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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON  

AT TACOMA 
 
ALMOG MEIR JAN; SHLOMI ZIV; 
ANDREY KOZLOV, 
                                            Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
PEOPLE MEDIA PROJECT, a Washington 
Non-Profit Corporation, d/b/a PALESTINE 
CHRONICLE; RAMZY BAROUD; JOHN 
HARVEY; and DOES 1 through 10, 
 

                  Defendants. 
 

NO.  3:24-cv-05553-TLF 
 
AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 

1. On October 7, 2023, the terrorist organization Hamas brutally murdered, raped, 

kidnapped, and butchered hundreds of Israeli civilians. 

2. Plaintiff Almog Meir Jan is an Israeli citizen who was kidnapped and held 

hostage for 246 days. He was rescued from the home of Abdallah Aljamal (“Aljamal”), a 

Hamas operative and spokesperson, in a daring mission by the Israel Defense Forces (“IDF”). 

3. Plaintiff Shlomi Ziv (“Ziv”) is an Israeli citizen who was a member of the 

security team at the Nova Music Festival near Kibbutz Re’im in southern Israel on October 7, 

2023, when he was kidnapped. He was subsequently held for 246 days. During the attack, Ziv 

stayed to fend off gunmen and evacuate people. He was rescued from the home of Hamas 

operative Aljamal, in the same mission by the IDF referenced above. 
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4. Plaintiff Andrey Kozlov (“Kozlov”) is a Russian-Israeli citizen who was 

working as a security guard at the Nova Music Festival on October 7, 2023, when he was 

kidnapped. He was subsequently held for 246 days. He was rescued from the home of Aljamal, 

in the same mission by the IDF referenced above. Kozlov was subjected to particularly intense, 

severe, and sustained psychological and physical abuse at the hands of Hamas.  

5. All three Plaintiffs were terrorized during the course of their captivity and 

subjected to arbitrary punishment, physical threats, and physical and psychological abuse. 

6. Plaintiffs’ captor, Hamas Operative Aljamal, was not just a Hamas operative 

and spokesperson—he was a “journalist” for Defendant People Media Project d/b/a Palestine 

Chronicle (“Palestine Chronicle”), a U.S.-based, tax-exempt news organization. Upon 

information and belief, Aljamal’s wife, Fatima, who also held Plaintiffs captive in their home, 

was also on the staff of the Palestine Chronicle. 

7. Under the leadership of Defendants Ramzy Baroud and John Harvey, 

Defendant Palestine Chronicle employed Hamas Operative Aljamal and offered him its U.S. 

platform to write and disseminate Hamas propaganda, ultimately subsidized by U.S. taxpayers 

through its status as a tax-exempt charitable organization. 

8. Following the Hamas terror attacks of October 7, while Hamas Operative 

Aljamal imprisoned Plaintiffs, Defendants permitted Hamas Operative Aljamal to use their 

platform to whitewash Hamas’s crimes and attract international support for its terrorist cause. 

9. By compensating Hamas Operative Aljamal for his propaganda, all the while 

knowing that Aljamal was a Hamas operative involved in Hamas’s October 7, 2023 attacks 

and in the ongoing terrorist war crime of holding Israeli citizens thereafter, Defendants aided, 

abetted, and materially supported both Hamas Operative Aljamal and Hamas itself in their acts 
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40. An approximate timeline of Defendants’ relationship with Aljamal appears 

below for illustrative purposes: 
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The translation is as follows: “Praise be to God, abundant, good and blessed praise.. O God, 

guide us.. O God, guide us.. O God, guide us.. O God, grant us the victory that you promised.. 

O God, acceptance, acceptance, acceptance.. Your victory, O God ����” 

58. During that time, and to the present day, Ramzy Baroud has maintained an 

active presence on TikTok. On information and belief, Baroud saw Aljamal’s post asking for 

a blessing over the terrorist attack. 

59. After October 7, Hamas operative Aljamal’s propaganda in the Palestine 

Chronicle increased exponentially, often publishing two to three pieces per day, even as Hamas 

operative Aljamal held Plaintiffs hostage in violation of international law. In order to receive 

and publish Aljamal’s post-October 7, 2023 Hamas propaganda, Defendants were in 

consistent, direct, and substantial contact with Aljamal, using electronic and internet means. 

60. Defendants knew that Aljamal’s post-October 7, 2023 propaganda could only 

be made with direct and substantial contacts with other Hamas terrorists providing him 

information to publish, power for his electronic devices, and Internet access for transmission 

of materials and communications.   

61. Defendants’ electronic communications with Aljamal shifted from Facebook to 

other electronic means of interacting with Aljamal. 
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62. Defendants knew, as part of their employment and compensation of Aljamal 

before, during, and after October 7, 2023, that Aljamal was a Hamas operative and 

spokesperson before, during, and in the months after the October 7, 2023 attacks, and 

Defendants knew, through their close employment relationship and personal connections with 

Aljamal, that Aljamal was a terrorist participating with Hamas in Hamas’s terrorist activities, 

when it was common knowledge that Hamas was kidnapping, holding, hiding, and concealing 

Israeli hostages. 

63. While compensating him as a “journalist,” Defendants knew that Aljamal was 

holding Israeli citizens, victims of October 7, hostage. 

64. While compensating him as a “journalist,” Defendants knew that Aljamal, as a 

Hamas operative, participated in acts of terrorism as part of his duties as such, including those 

terrorist acts commonly known to be committed by Hamas operatives during and after the 

October 7 attacks, such as kidnapping and holding Israeli civilians hostage, taking substantial 

actions to conceal the locations of hostages and Hamas operatives, using Palestinian civilians 

as human shields, and that their continued and increasing cumulative compensation of Aljamal 

would have a substantial effect in aiding these acts of terrorism and violations of criminal law. 

65. Defendants knew that Aljamal was a terrorist participating in kidnapping and 

hostage-taking through their close employment relationship and their personal connections, 

e.g., Aljamal and Defendant Baroud are from the same hometown in Gaza. 

66. Apart from Defendants’ personal, specific knowledge about Aljamal’s 

participation in the October 7 terror attacks and his housing of hostages, Aljamal’s terrorist 

activities, including his participation in the October 7, 2023 attacks, kidnapping, hostage 
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imprisonment, and other international crimes, were public common knowledge in Gaza and 

among the shared personal connections of Baroud and Aljamal. 

67. On information and belief, Defendants used electronic and internet means, 

including, but not limited to, WhatsApp and Skype, to communicate with Hamas Operative 

Aljamal following October 7, 2023, to coordinate Defendants’ publishing of Hamas 

propaganda, including the publishing of justifications for Aljamal’s imprisonment of Israeli 

citizens. 

68. On information and belief, during that time between October 7, 2023, and the 

rescue of Plaintiffs, Defendants were informed by Aljamal and others that Aljamal was holding 

Israelis hostage and participating in other activities of Hamas, including concealing hostages 

and using civilians as human shields to protect Hamas. 

69. For the more than eight months Hamas held Plaintiffs hostage and during the 

time Hamas Operative Aljamal imprisoned Plaintiffs in his home, Defendants permitted 

Hamas Operative Aljamal to use their platform—and paid him to do so—to whitewash 

Hamas’s crimes and attract international support for its terrorist cause. 

70. According to Plaintiff, Shlomi Ziv, Hamas Operative Aljamal repeatedly 

expressed his hatred for the State of Israel and the United States of America and informed the 

Plaintiffs that Hamas was in contact and actively coordinating with its affiliates in the media 

and on college campuses. 

71. Ziv further overheard several discussions in which Aljamal mentioned the name 

of a journalist named “Nura.” Upon information and belief, “Nura” refers to “Nurah Tape” 
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97. Defendant’s activities also violated Article 2.1(b) of the International 

Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism which provides:  

Any person commits an offence within the meaning of this Convention 
if that person by any means, directly or indirectly, unlawfully and 
willfully, provides or collects funds with the intention that they should 
be used or in the knowledge that they are to be used, in full or in part, in 
order to carry out:  

An act which constitutes an offence within the scope of and as defined 
in one of the treaties listed in the annex; or  

Any other act intended to cause death or serious bodily injury to a 
civilian, or to any other person not taking an active part in the hostilities 
in a situation of armed conflict, when the purpose of such act, by its 
nature or context, is to intimidate a population, or to compel a 
government or an international organization to do or to abstain from 
doing any act. 
 

98. Moreover, “aiding and abetting liability is a norm of customary international 

law with sufficient definition and universality to establish liability under the” Alien Tort 

Statute. Doe v. Cisco Sys., 73 F.4th 700, 717 (9th Cir. 2023). 

99. Defendants knew that Hamas Operative Aljamal was a Hamas operative and 

spokesperson. 

100. Defendants, while compensating Aljamal as a “journalist” before, during, and 

after October 7, 2023, knew that Aljamal was a Hamas operative who, before, during, and after 

October 7, 2023, until his death, participated in acts of terrorism, including kidnapping and 

holding Israeli citizens hostage in Gaza. 

101. Yet, Defendants employed Hamas Operative Aljamal as a “journalist,” 

provided him with a U.S.-based and taxpayer subsidized platform to publish Hamas’s 

propaganda to a vast U.S.-based audience, and compensated Hamas Operative Aljamal for his 

propaganda. 
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102. Furthermore, Defendants knowingly provided Hamas Operative Aljamal with 

a “legitimate” title, thereby giving him cover to commit heinous acts. 

103. By providing this support to Hamas Operative Aljamal, including compensating 

Hamas Operative Aljamal for his propaganda, Defendants aided and abetted Hamas Operative 

Aljamal in cooperating in the kidnapping of Plaintiffs and imprisoning Plaintiffs as hostages 

in his home, in violation of international law. 

104. As a result of Defendants’ aiding and abetting a known Hamas operative, 

Plaintiffs suffered physical injuries, severe mental anguish, and extreme emotional pain and 

suffering. 

VI. SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
VIOLATION OF THE ALIEN TORT STATUTE, 28 U.S.C. § 1350 –  

AIDING AND ABETTING TERRORISM IN VIOLATION OF THE “LAW OF 
NATIONS” – 

Against All Defendants 
 

105. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate paragraphs 1–104 as if restated fully. 

106. The Alien Tort Statute states, “[t]he district courts shall have original 

jurisdiction of any civil action by an alien for a tort only, committed in violation of the law of 

nations or a treaty of the United States.” 28 U.S.C. § 1350. 

107. Plaintiffs are Israeli citizens and are therefore aliens under the Alien Tort 

Statute. 

108. International law universally prohibits acts of terrorism such as those Hamas 

perpetrated on October 7. For example, since the Nuremberg trials and the aftermath of World 

War II, it has been universally recognized that it is unacceptable to murder, rape, torture, 
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112. Defendants knew that Hamas Operative Aljamal was a Hamas operative and 

spokesperson. 

113. Defendants, while compensating Aljamal as a “journalist” before, during, and 

after October 7, 2023, knew that Aljamal was a Hamas operative who, before, during, and after 

October 7, 2023, until his death, participated in acts of terrorism, including kidnapping and 

holding Israeli citizens hostage in Gaza. 

114. Yet, Defendants employed Hamas Operative Aljamal as a “journalist,” 

provided him with a U.S.-based and taxpayer subsidized platform to publish Hamas’s 

propaganda to a vast U.S.-based audience, and compensated Hamas Operative Aljamal for his 

propaganda. 

115. Furthermore, Defendants knowingly provided Hamas Operative Aljamal with 

a “legitimate” title, thereby giving him cover to commit heinous acts. 

116. By providing this support to Hamas Operative Aljamal, including compensating 

Hamas Operative Aljamal for his propaganda, Defendants aided and abetted Hamas’s acts of 

terrorism on October 7 and after, in violation of international law. 

117. Additionally, by providing this support to Hamas Operative Aljamal, including 

compensating Hamas Operative Aljamal for his propaganda, Defendants materially supported 

Hamas, a designated foreign terrorist organization, in violation of international law. 

118. As a result of Defendants’ aiding, abetting, and materially supporting a known 

Hamas operative and propagandist, Plaintiffs suffered physical injuries, severe mental anguish, 

and extreme emotional pain and suffering. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Accordingly, Plaintiffs respectfully ask this Court to: 

A. Find that the acts and omissions herein stated existed; 

B. Declare Defendants violated the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350 as set 

forth in the First & Second Claims for Relief, supra;  

C. Enter judgment against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiffs for compensatory 

damages in amounts to be determined at trial; 

D. Award Plaintiffs punitive damages in an amount sufficient to punish 

Defendants and to deter similar conduct in the future;  

E. For pre- and post-judgment interest where applicable in favor of Plaintiffs; 

F. For an award of all of Plaintiffs’ costs, expenses, and attorneys’ fees as 

permitted by any agreement, statute, or grounded in equity; and 

G. Grant such other and further relief as justice and equity requires. 

DATED this 21st day of February 2025. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
TOMLINSON BOMSZTYK RUSS 

By:    
Aric S. Bomsztyk, WSBA #38020 
Blair M. Russ, WSBA #40374  
1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3660 
Seattle, Washington 98104 
Telephone: (206) 621-1871 
Facsimile: (206) 621-9907 
asb@tbr-law.com 
bmr@tbr-law.com 

NATIONAL JEWISH ADVOCACY CENTER, INC. 
THE INTERNATIONAL LEGAL FORUM 
 
 
Mark Goldfeder (pro hac vice) 
1718 General George Patton Drive 
Brentwood, TN 37027 
Phone: (800) 269-9895 
mark@jewishadvocacycenter.org 
ben@jewishadvocacycenter.org 
anat@jewishadvocacycenter.org 
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LAW OFFICES OF DAVID SCHOEN  
 
David Schoen (pro hac vice) 
2800 Zelda Road, Suite 100-6 
Montgomery, Alabama 36106 
Phone: (334) 395-6611 
schoenlawfirm@gmail.com 
 

 
HOLTZMAN VOGEL BARAN 
TORCHINSKY & JOSEFIAK PLLC 
 
Jason Torchinsky (pro hac vice) 
Erielle Davidson (pro hac vice) 
Phillip M. Gordon (pro hac vice) 
John J. Cycon (pro hac vice) 
2300 N Street, NW, Suite 643A 
Washington, DC 20037 
jtorchinsky@holtzmanvogel.com    
edavidson@holtzmanvogel.com  
pgordon@hotlzmanvogel.com 
jcycon@holtzmanvogel.com 
Phone: (202) 737-8808 
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Exhibit A is being produced in native format.  
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